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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 
MAXCIMO SCOTT, JAY ENSOR, MATTHEW 
MEDINA, EUFEMIA JIMENEZ, KRYSTAL 
PARKER, STACY HIGGS, and CHRISTINA JEWEL 
GATELEY, on behalf of themselves and all others 
similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

 
 -against-  
 
CHIPOTLE MEXICAN GRILL, INC., and 
CHIPOTLE SERVICES, LLC,  
 

Defendants. 

 
 
12 Civ. 8333 (ALC)(SN) 
 
 
THIRD AMENDED 
CLASS ACTION 
COMPLAINT 
 

 
Plaintiffs Maxcimo Scott, Jay Ensor, Matthew Medina, Eufemia Jimenez, Krystal Parker, 

Stacy Higgs, and Christina Jewel Gateley (“Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all others 

similarly situated, as class representatives, upon personal knowledge as to themselves, and upon 

information and belief as to other matters, alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 
 

1. This lawsuit seeks to recover overtime compensation and spread-of-hours pay for 

Plaintiffs and their similarly situated co-workers, Apprentices and/or Assistant Managers (hereinafter 
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“Apprentices”), who work or have worked for Defendants Chipotle Mexican Grill, Inc. and/or Chipotle 

Services, LLC (previously known as Chipotle Mexican Grill Service, Co., LLC), at Chipotle Mexican 

Grill Restaurants nationwide (collectively “Chipotle”).  

2. Chipotle is a chain of Mexican style Restaurants known for its natural ingredients 

and assembly line production. According to their website, Chipotle considers itself a “fast-

casual” dining establishment, where “customers expect food quality that’s more in line with full-

service restaurants, coupled with the speed and convenience of fast food.” 

http://www.chipotle.com/en-us/company/about_us.aspx. 

3. According to Chipotle’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending on December 31, 

2011, Chipotle operated 1,350 restaurants, employed 2,570 salaried employees and 28,370 

hourly employees. For the fiscal year 2011, Chipotle earned approximately $2.27 billion dollars 

in revenue.  

4. Chipotle’s restaurants are designed around the concept of an open kitchen, where 

employees are constantly engaging customers and preparing meals in front of customers in an 

assembly line production.   

5. Chipotle states in its’ 2011 form 10-K that, “All of our restaurant employees are 

encouraged to interact with customers no matter their job, whether preparing food or serving 

customers…” Chipotle further states that its’ “employees spend hours preparing our food 

onsite.” 

6. At Chipotle, Apprentices are required to provide customer service while on duty. 

7. Apprentices spend the majority of their shifts working the assembly line, filling 

orders for customers, grilling, operating the cash register, and preparing items for the line 

including salsa, guacamole, chopped vegetables and other food items.  
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8. Regardless of the number of hours worked, Apprentices do not receive overtime 

compensation.  

9. Chipotle classifies all Apprentices as “executives” and exempt from overtime pay.  

10. However, Apprentice’s primary duties are food preparation and customer service 

and are similar to the duties performed by hourly non-exempt employees. 

11. Apprentices should be classified as non-exempt from the overtime provisions of 

the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq. (“FLSA”) and state wage and hour laws.  

12. Upon information and belief, Chipotle applied the same compensation and 

employment policies, practices, and procedures to all Apprentices nationwide.  

13. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and similarly situated current and 

former Apprentices nationwide who elect to opt-in to this action pursuant to the FLSA, and 

specifically, the collective action provision of 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), to remedy violations of the wage-

and-hour provisions of the FLSA by Chipotle that have deprived Plaintiffs and other similarly situated 

employees of their lawfully earned wages.  

14. Plaintiff Maxcimo Scott also brings this action on behalf of himself and all 

similarly situated current and former Apprentices who worked in New York pursuant to Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 23 to remedy violations of the New York Labor Law, Article 6, §§ 190 et 

seq., and Article 19, §§ 650 et seq., and the supporting New York State Department of Labor 

regulations (collectively, “NYLL”).   

15. Plaintiff Jay Ensor also brings this action on behalf of himself and all similarly 

situated current and former Apprentices who worked in Missouri pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23 to remedy violations of the Missouri Labor Law Rev. Stat. § 290.502 and § 

290.505 (collectively, “MLL”). 
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16. Plaintiff Matthew Medina also brings this action on behalf of himself and all 

similarly situated current and former Apprentices who worked in Colorado pursuant to Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 23 to remedy violations of C.R.S. 8-4-101, et seq. and Colorado Wage 

Order No. 29, 7 C.C.R. 1103-1, et seq. (collectively “Colorado Wage Laws”). 

17. Plaintiffs Eufemia Jimenez and Christina Jewel Gateley also bring this action on 

behalf of themselves and all similarly situated current and former Apprentices who worked in 

Illinois pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 to remedy violations of Illinois Minimum 

Wage Law, 820 Ill. Comp. Stat. § 105/1, et seq., the Illinois Wage Payments and Collections Act, 

820 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 115/1, et seq., and their implementing regulations, 56 Ill. Admin. Code 

§§ 210.100 through 300.850 (collectively, “Illinois Wage Laws”).Plaintiff Krystal Parker also 

brings this action on behalf of herself and all similarly situated current and former Apprentices 

who worked in North Carolina pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 to remedy 

violations of North Carolina’s Wage and Hour Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-25.1, et seq., and 

implementing regulations, 13 N.C. Admin. Code 12.0300, et seq. (collectively, “North Carolina 

Wage Laws”). 

18. Plaintiff Stacy Higgs also brings this action on behalf of herself and all similarly 

situated current and former Apprentices who worked in Washington pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23 to remedy violations of Washington’s Minimum Wage Act, Rev. Code Wash. 

§§49.46.005, et seq.; Washington’s Industrial Welfare Act, Rev. Code Wash. §§49.12.005, et 

seq.; Washington’s Wage Rebate Act, Rev. Code Wash. §§49.52.050, et seq.; and Washington 

Administrative Code §§296-126-092 (collectively, “Washington Wage Laws”). 
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THE PARTIES 
 
Plaintiffs 
 
Maxcimo Scott 

19. Maxcimo Scott (“Scott”) is an adult individual who is a resident of Bronx, New 

York.  

20. From in or around 2007 until 2009 Scott was employed by Defendants as a Crew 

Member at the Chipotle located at 9 Saint Marks Place, New York, New York 10003 (“St. 

Marks”).  

21. From in or around 2009 to October 17, 2011, Scott was employed by Defendants 

as an Apprentice at the St. Marks Chipotle.  

22. As an Apprentice, Scott frequently performed the functions of an hourly Crew 

member on the line.   

23. Scott frequently worked more than 40 hours per week with an average of 50 to 55 

hours per week.  

24. Pursuant to Chipotle’s policy and pattern or practice, Chipotle did not pay Scott 

premium overtime pay when he worked as an Apprentice for their benefit in excess of 40 hours 

in a workweek.  

25. Pursuant to Chipotle’s policy and pattern or practice, Chipotle did not pay Scott 

spread-of-hours pay when the length of his workday was greater than 10 hours. 

26. Scott is a covered employee within the meaning of the FLSA and the NYLL. 

27. A written consent form for Scott was filed as an attachment to the original Class 

Action Complaint. 
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